FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/14/2021 2:28 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

S. Ct. No. 99980-5 COA No. 37108-5-III

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

In re the Custody of:

SA-M, Child.

GABRIEL PINON,

Respondent,

and

JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_

Kenneth H. Kato, WSBA # 6400 Attorney for Petitioner 1020 N. Washington St. Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 220-2237

#

## A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jose Luis Alvarez asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B.

## B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Alvarez seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, filed on June 15, 2021, affirming the trial court's orders. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix.

## C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In granting the de facto parentage petition, did the court err by determining Gabriel Pinon should be the primary parent as it was in the child's best interests?
- 2. Did the court err by determining Mr. Alvarez was subject to limiting factors under RCW 26.09.191 and was not a fit parent?
- 3. In the findings and conclusions about de facto parentage, did substantial evidence support the court's findings of fact 10, best interest of the child, and 20, limiting factors under RCW 26.19.091 on Mr. Alvarez?
- 4. In the final parentage order, did the court err by making the parenting plan or residential schedule in paragraph 7 where it provides "[t]he child shall live with GABRIEL PINON most of the time"?

- 5. In the parenting plan, did the court err by finding reasons for putting limitations on Mr. Alvarez under RCW 26.09.191?
- 6. In the parenting plan, did the court err by putting limitations on a parent, Mr. Alvarez, in paragraph 4?
- 7. In the parenting plan, did the court err by limiting major decision-making by Mr. Alvarez in paragraph 5?
- 8. In the parenting plan, did the court err by making its finding of fact in paragraph 16 that it adopted the statements in section 3 (reasons for putting limitations on a parent) as its findings?

## D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Pinon filed a pro se nonparental custody petition on March 30, 2016. (CP 8). After several amendments to the petition, another amended de facto parentage petition was filed to conform to RCW 26.26A, effective January 1, 2019. (CP 601, 618).

Mr. Alvarez and Karina Morales were in a relationship and they had a daughter, SA-M, who was born September 2, 2010. (CP 849; 7/9/19 RP 228-30). He moved away from Yakima thereafter because of financial issues from so little work in town. (7/9/19 RP 230). Mr. Alvarez intended to move back to Yakima even before Ms. Morales died. (*Id.*). He kept in contact with SA-M

often. In the first three years, it was mostly telephone calls although he did return to Yakima and visited her in 2014. (*Id.* at 230-31). After that, contact was through telephone calls every 3-4 months. (*Id.*).

Mr. Alvarez sent SA-M birthday gifts and provided financial support for SA-M by making \$200 monthly payments to Ms.

Morales' bank account for their daughter. (7/9/19 RP 231). He made these payments on his own as he was never ordered to pay child support. (*Id.* at 232). Mr. Alvarez and Ms. Morales dated from April 2008 until they separated in 2012. (*Id.*). He supported her while she was pregnant with SA-M. (*Id.*). Mr. Alvarez worked construction, but went to doctor appointments with Ms. Morales while she was pregnant with SA-M and after her birth. (*Id.* at 233).

SA-M had been living with Mr. Alvarez since August 2017. (CP 850; 7/9/19 RP 233). He took her to doctor appointments and she was in excellent health. (7/9/19 RP 233). He and SA-M went to counseling in 2017 since she was going through depression. (*Id.* at 233-34). He had struggled some in his relationship with her as he wanted to educate himself on how to deal with her depression and her mom's loss. (*Id.* at 234). The counseling was helpful and improved his relationship with SA-M so that it was now very strong.

(*Id.*). Mr. Alvarez planned to stay in Yakima where he was working construction and had family. (*Id.* at 235-36). SA-M visits her maternal grandparents every two weeks and they have an important relationship with her. (*Id.* at 237). On the other hand, Mr. Pinon did not encourage SA-M to have a strong and positive relationship with Mr. Alvarez. (*Id.*).

SA-M attended school at McClure in Yakima. (7/9/19 RP 238). Mr. Alvarez was familiar with and talked to SA-M's teacher. (*Id.*). He helped SA-M with homework and wanted her to succeed in school, where she had many friends. (*Id.* at 238-39). Mr. Alvarez went to parent-teacher conferences and school events. (*Id.* at 239). For fun, he and SA-M went shopping, watched movies, played together, and enjoyed eating. (*Id.*). They also rode bikes and went fishing. (*Id.*).

Mr. Alvarez said he did not mistreat SA-M. (7/9/19 RP 240). He did not pull her ears or her hair. (*Id.* at 240-41). He did admit inadvertently hitting her with a belt when she was throwing a tantrum. He hit the table and the belt slid off and hit SA-M. (*Id.* at 241). Mr. Alvarez realized he needed help with the psychologist to deal with those difficult situations. (*Id.*). He learned parenting techniques from the counselor and also took parenting classes from

the State. (*Id.*). Mr. Alvarez did not encourage or consent to a parent-like relationship between Mr. Pinon and SA-M as father-daughter, but only as a stepdad. (*Id.* at 244). There had been contact with CPS amid allegations that Mr. Alvarez had physically abused SA-M. (*Id.*). But at trial, it was established that CPS determined the allegations were unfounded. (*Id.* at 248). Mr. Pinon had always interfered with Mr. Alvarez's relationship with SA-M and said bad things about him. (*Id.* at 252).

Mental health counselor Martha Reyes was treating SA-M. (7/10/19 RP 8). SA-M had done well with her previous counselor dealing with the grief and loss of her mother. (*Id.*). Ms. Reyes diagnosed SA-M with major depressive order, anxiety disorder, and acute stress disorder. (*Id.* at 9). Mr. Alvarez had brought SA-M in for counseling with her. (*Id.*). She had issues with having to go back and forth between her biological father and her mother's boyfriend, resulting in behavior problems. (*Id.*). Counseling ended in October 2018 because SA-M was doing well. (*Id.* at 10). She returned to counseling in May 2019. (*Id.*).

Ms. Reyes described SA-M's relationship with Mr. Alvarez as a good one and they got along well with good conversations.

(7/10/19 RP 11). SA-M was loving toward him. (*Id.*). Ms. Reyes

felt SA-M was honest with her. SA-M never told her a custody case was going on. (*Id.* at 12). Ms. Reyes was aware of CPS reports against Mr. Alvarez, but they did not concern her except for some parenting issues she worked on with him. (*Id.* at 10, 15). Instead of corporal punishment, Ms. Reyes taught him to do time outs, take away privileges, and use reinforcement for doing positive things to encourage positive behavior. (*Id.* at 15). Mr. Alvarez accepted those parenting techniques. (*Id.* at 13).

SA-M described spending time with her brother, M, and cared a lot for him. (7/10/19 RP 13). She was afraid of M's being hit or hurt by Mr. Pinon, with whom SA-M described spending very little time. (*Id.*). As counseling progressed, SA-M's behavior became more appropriate and she bonded more with Mr. Alvarez, developing a positive relationship with him. They seemed to be doing well. (*Id.* at 15). Ms. Reyes had no counseling sessions with SA-M and Mr. Pinon. (*Id.*).

SA-M also voiced concerns to Ms. Reyes about Mr. Pinon, who touched her bottom while carrying her and kissed her on the lips. (7/10/19 RP 16). Ms. Reyes did not feel someone was putting those words in her mouth. (*Id.*). She called CPS twice about Mr. Pinon's behavior. (*Id.*). She felt SA-M's spending that much time in

his home was not a safe thing. (*Id.* at 17). Ms. Reyes said SA-M reported being bullied by two daughters of Mr. Pinon's girlfriend, Brenda Barragan. (*Id.*). SA-M did not like Ms. Barragan, who hit her and was mean. (*Id.*). But SA-M and Mr. Alvarez had a positive relationship with open communication. SA-M was smiling and happy. (*Id.*). Ms. Reyes said SA-M should continue counseling as, although she had decreased depression, she still had continuing anxiety and stress. (*Id.* at 17-18). Ms. Reyes was aware all CPS allegations against Mr. Alvarez were unfounded. (*Id.* at 24).

The GAL, Branden Silva, did his first report in spring 2017. (7/10/19 RP 27-28). He met with SA-M, Mr. Alvarez, and Mr. Pinon. (*Id.* at 28-29). In that report, Mr. Silva concluded SA-M should stay with Mr. Alvarez the majority of the time, but still have consistent visits with Mr. Pinon. (*Id.* at 29). There were no CPS concerns at that time. (*Id.*).

Mr. Silva did another report in 2019 the weekend before trial. (7/10/19 RP 29). He again met with SA-M, Mr. Alvarez, and Mr. Pinon. (*Id.* at 30). He looked into the CPS allegations against Mr. Alvarez. Although having concerns about his fitness as a parent in that certain inappropriate behaviors had taken place, Mr. Silva nonetheless concluded that on the whole, Mr. Alvarez was not an

unfit parent. (*Id.*). Mr. Silva was also aware of the CPS allegations against Mr. Pinon and his assessment was the same as the CPS investigator's. (*Id.* at 31). SA-M told Mr. Silva she did not like Ms. Barragan. (*Id.* at 32). Over objection that SA-M was not mature enough to express her desires, the court allowed Mr. Silva to testify that SA-M consistently told him she wanted to live with Mr. Alvarez. (*Id.* at 32-34). She was really unconcerned about not seeing Mr. Pinon. (*Id.* at 34). Rather, her primary concern was not seeing her brother, M. (*Id.*). SA-M denied Mr. Alvarez had pulled her hair or ears or hit her. (*Id.* at 35). She had concerns about Mr. Pinon touching her bottom and kissing her on the mouth. (*Id.*).

Mr. Silva recommended that SA-M should live primarily with Mr. Alvarez. (7/10/19 RP 36). But he felt there was nothing he found that would justify fully restricting Mr. Pinon's visits with SA-M. (*Id.* at 36-37). Mr. Silva testified it was in SA-M's best interests to continue her relationship with Mr. Pinon. (*Id.* at 51). With respect to the criteria for establishing a permanent parenting plan under RCW 26.09.187, Mr. Silva went through them on cross examination and said the applicable factors tipped in Mr. Pinon's way. (*Id.* at 61-67). But he nevertheless recommended in his report that SA-M should live primarily with Mr. Alvarez. (*Id.* at 36). And Mr. Alvarez

fulfilled all parenting functions, with SA-M feeling more comfortable in his home than Mr. Pinon's. (*Id.* at 71, 74).

The court granted Mr. Pinon's de facto parentage petition and ordered he was a legal parent. (CP 844). The court also entered a parenting plan and a final order and findings for a parenting plan, residential schedule and/or child support. (CP 855, 867). An agreed child support order was entered. (CP 877). A final parentage order was entered. (CP 871). Mr. Alvarez appealed. (CP 926). The Court of Appeals affirmed in a published decision filed June 15, 2021. *In re Custody of SA-M*, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 1451 (Wash. Ct. App. June 15, 2021).

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) as the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court and also under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals decision involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, Mr. Alvarez's appeal involved the newly enacted de facto parentage statute:

This case provides an opportunity to interpret and apply RCW 26.26A.440. We conclude that the trial court properly focused on SA-M's relationship with

Mr. Pinon in finding that Mr. Pinon was SA-M's de facto parent. Under the statute, the child's best interest in continuing the relationship is now a primary factor in determining whether a de facto parentage exists. If custody is at issue, the court must then make a separate determination of the child's best interest for purposes of custody and a scheduling order. The two interests are not necessarily the same. In this case, substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that it is in SA-M's best interest for the de facto parent to retain primary custody while limiting Mr. Alvarez's residential time with his daughter. (Op. at 1-2).

RCW 26.26A.440(4)(g) provides that an individual claiming to be a de facto parent of a child must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that "[c]ontinuing the relationship between the individual and the child is in the best interest of the child." But the trial court made this finding that failed to address the continuing relationship factor and instead focused on custody:

#### 10. Best interest

Is it in the child's best interest for the relationship with Petitioner to continue?

Yes.

This conclusion is based on the following facts:

It is in [SA-M's] best interest that Petitioner be her primary parent because of his shown parenting abilities and the close bond [SAM] has with him and because respondent is not a fit parent. (CP 852).

The trial court's finding conflates "best interest of the child" as to the de facto parentage with the custody determination. The Court of Appeals decision recognized that if custody is an issue, the court must make a separate determination of the child's best interest for purposes of custody and a scheduling order. (Op. at 1-2). The trial court did not make that separate determination of best interest of the child as to the "continuing relationship" for de facto parentage and best interest of the child as to custody.

The Court of Appeals agreed "the trial court seemed to combine the findings for a de facto parent with the findings necessary for custody." It determined, however, any error was harmless. It was not. The Court of Appeals stated "[t]he additional finding – that it is SA-M's best interest for Mr. Pinon to be her primary parent – implicitly recognizes that their relationship should continue." (Op. at 13). The issue is custody. And the trial court made no separate express finding supporting the continuing relationship factor between Mr. Pinon and SA-M before finding it was in her best interest that he be her primary parent.

Indeed, Mr. Alvarez was the primary parent at the time of trial. The best interest of the child for purposes of determining de facto parentage was erroneously combined with the best interest of

the child for custody when, as the Court of Appeals noted, they are to be decided separately. This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The trial court's combined finding on de facto parentage and setting residential time under RCW 26.09.187 does not meet the separate best interest considerations for each. The court's finding no. 10 reflects its sole finding on the best interest of SA-M. Viewed in this context, the constitutional implications of *In re Custody of Smith*, 137 Wn.2d 1, 13, 969 P.2d 21 (1998), *aff'd sub nom. Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 L. Ed.2d 49 (2000), may still be applicable to considerations under the Uniform Parentage Act.

The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Alvarez's contention the trial court's parenting plan interfered with his fundamental constitutional rights as a natural parent because Mr. Pinon was found to be a de facto parent with rights and responsibilities that "do not infringe on the fundamental liberty interests of the other legal parent in the family unit." (Op. at 14). But the issue is whether, in determining Mr. Pinon was a de facto parent, the trial court is bound by the principle that short of preventing harm to the child, the "best interest of the child" is insufficient to be a compelling

state interest overruling a parent's fundamental rights. *In re Custody of Smith*, 137 Wn.2d at 15-16. Only under "extraordinary circumstances" is there a compelling state interest justifying interference with parental rights. *In re Custody of Shields*, 157 Wn.2d 126, 145, 136 P.3d 117 (2006). There are no extraordinary circumstances here of any such compelling state interest.

The Court of Appeals relied on Mr. Pinon's de facto parent status to avoid the constitutional question, but his status after the fact does not determine whether the trial court should have considered *Smith* in making its decision on de facto parentage in the first place. The issue is one of substantial public interest warranting decision by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Mr. Pinon also could not show Mr. Alvarez was an unfit parent. Another judge had previously granted summary judgment to Mr. Alvarez that he was a fit parent. Although the judge later reversed himself, the finding is indicative of Mr. Alvarez's fitness as a parent. (CP 617, 762). The GAL testified he was a fit parent. (7/10/19 RP 30, 36). The court's determination Mr. Alvarez was not a fit parent is a conclusion of law based on other findings that he was subject to limiting factors under RCW 26.09.191 and was not a fit parent primarily because it found (1) he physically abused and

repeatedly emotionally abused SA-M and (2) he used conflict in a way that endangered or damaged SA-M's psychological development. (CP 855, 856). A preponderance of the evidence does not support those findings and the conclusion of unfitness does not flow from them. *Ridgeview Properties v. Starbuck*, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982). The Court of Appeals decision to the contrary conflicts with *Starbuck*, so review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Alvarez respectfully asks this Court to grant his petition for review.