FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/6/2021 3:49 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 99980-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Custody of:

S.A.-M., Child,

GABRIEL PINON,

Respondent,

and

JOSE LUIS ALVAREZ,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

B. Restatement of the Facts.

SA-M was born in September 2010 to Karina Morales-Rodriguez; her biological father is petitioner Jose Luis Alvarez. Mr. Alvarez moved from Washington State after SA-M's birth. In April 2012, when SA-M was 18 months old, she and her mother Karina began living with respondent Gabriel Pinon, with whom Karina had SA-M's half-brother M in May 2015, and Mr. Pinon's two daughters from a previous relationship. (7/8 RP 18-19, 27)

Mr. Pinon and Karina were engaged to be married when Karina was murdered at work on March 26, 2016. (7/8 RP 37) Mr. Pinon "was the only father [SA-M] knew before her mother was murdered." (Unchallenged Findings of Fact 8, CP 851) Mr. Alvarez, who was living in Oklahoma when Karina was killed (CP 9), had only

seen SA-M once between 2012 and 2016, sometime in 2014. (7/8 RP 42)

On March 30, 2016, Mr. Pinon commenced this action for third party custody under RCW ch. 26.10, as SA-M's "non-biological father," pro se and with civil filing fees waived. (CP 4) After being served with Mr. Pinon's petition for custody, Mr. Alvarez sought an order placing SA-M with him. (CP 482) In April 2017, SA-M was temporarily placed with Mr. Alvarez pending trial, based on the recommendation of the GAL, whose understanding of the law at the time was that under the third party custody statute, RCW ch. 26.10, he was compelled to recommend that a child's biological father be given custody unless he was unfit. (7/10 RP 50) The GAL testified that the recommendation was "gut-wrenching:" "it was very difficult; it was very stressful;" it was the GAL's "recurrent thought" that he "in essence [was] taking her away from her other parent." (7/10 RP 50)

After SA-M was temporarily placed with Mr. Alvarez, her well-being deteriorated. SA-M's grades plummeted. Mr. Alvarez did not continue SA-M's therapy with the counselor Mr. Pinon had engaged to help her with her grief over her mother's passing. (7/10 RP 45-46) SA-M's school made a mandatory CPS report when SA-M showed up at school with bruises; Mr. Alvarez admitted hitting her with a belt.

(7/10 RP 21, 46-47) Based on that report, SA-M was placed in counseling, but with a different counselor, but Mr. Alvarez soon ended that therapy as well. SA-M began running away from Mr. Alvarez's home. On one occasion in July 2018, when she was seven years old, SA-M ran away after Mr. Alvarez hit her with a fishing pole at a sporting goods store. She was picked up and taken by the police to the hospital after 11 p.m. (7/10 RP 44-49, Ex 4) A second CPS report was made then. (Ex 4, 7/10 RP 22)

The therapist SA-M had most recently seen before trial diagnosed her with major depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, and acute stress disorder. (7/10 RP 9) The GAL testified that when SA-M left Mr. Pinon's care in 2017 she was not "clinically depressed," whereas by the time of trial she was. (7/10 RP 64-65)

The Uniform Parentage Act, enacted effective January 1, 2019, established statutory factors for determination of de facto parent status. An individual seeking de facto parent status must demonstrate seven factors by a preponderance of the evidence. RCW 26.26A.440(4)(a)-(g). The statute expressly provides that a de facto parent shall have the same rights and responsibilities as a biological parent, RCW 26.26A.110, consistent with previous case law. In May 2019, Mr. Pinon, now represented by counsel, was allowed to amend

his petition to seek de facto parent status under RCW ch. 26.26A, rather than third party custody under RCW ch. 26.10.

The case went to trial in July 2019. The trial court found that Mr. Pinon proved each of the seven factors to establish himself as a de facto parent under RCW 26.26A.440. (CP 850-52) On appeal, Mr. Alvarez did not challenge the trial court's findings on any of these factors, save one. In finding that it was in SA-M's best interests for her relationship with Mr. Pinon to continue, under RCW 26.26A.440(4)(g), the trial court found it was in SA-M's best interest that Mr. Pinon "be her primary parent because of his shown parenting abilities and the close bond [SA-M] has with him and because [Mr. Alvarez] is not a fit parent." (FF 10, CP 852)

After finding Mr. Pinon was SA-M's de facto parent, the trial court considered the factors under RCW 26.09.187 to establish a residential schedule in SA-M's best interests. In determining that SA-M should be placed primarily with Mr. Pinon, the trial court found SA-M's "strength, nature and stability of relationship is stronger with Gabriel Pinon than [Mr. Alvarez] and she is more closely bonded to Gabriel . . . and views Gabriel as her father. Gabriel has done the majority of parenting factors on a daily basis for the

majority of the child's life and taken greater responsibility to perform the role of a parent" than Mr. Alvarez. (FF 20, CP 853)

The trial court found that Mr. Alvarez's residential time with SA-M was subject to RCW 26.09.191 limiting factors, and should be with non-professional supervision. (FF 20, CP 853) The trial court found that Mr. Alvarez "abused or threatened to abuse a child. The abuse was: physical repeated emotional abuse." (CP 855) The trial court also found that Mr. Alvarez "uses conflict in a way that endangers or damages the psychological development of the child." (CP 856)

C. Court of Appeals' Decision.

Mr. Alvarez appealed the trial court's decision to Division Three of the Court of Appeals. In the Court of Appeals, Mr. Alvarez did not challenge the trial court's determination that Mr. Pinon was SA-M's de facto parent, but only that the trial court designated Mr. Pinon as primary residential parent after finding him to be a de facto parent. (See App. Br. 1; Assignment of Error 1: "In granting the de facto parentage petition, the court erred by determining Gabriel Pinon should be the primary parent as it was in the child's best interests."; Op. 13: "Mr. Alvarez's primary challenge on appeal seems to be trial court's determination of custody, not parentage.")

Although not challenging the findings themselves, Mr. Alvarez also challenged the trial court's imposition of limitations on his residential time and decision-making for SA-M based on its RCW 26.09.191 findings.

Division Three affirmed the trial court's decision on June 15, 2021. (Petition, Appendix: (Op.)) Division Three ruled that "[t]o the extent that Mr. Alvarez is contesting the court's finding that Mr. Pinon is a de facto parent, we reject his argument" (Op. 11), having treated Mr. Alvarez's argument that when both men are "equally capable parents... Mr. Alvarez's biological connection gives him an advantage over Mr. Pinon in determining custody" as one challenging Mr. Pinon's de facto parentage status and not custody. (Op. 11) In rejecting any challenge to the de facto parentage determination, the Court held "[i]n finding that it is in SA-M's best interest to continue a relationship with Mr. Pinon, the court does not have to find that Mr. Pinon is a better parent than Mr. Alvarez or that Mr. Alvarez is unfit. Instead, the focus is on the relationship between SA-M and Mr. Pinon." (Op. 11)

Division Three held that to the extent the trial court appeared to be considering "custody" in making its finding that it would be in SA-M's best interests to continue her relationship with Mr. Pinon by referencing him as "primary parent," and thus conflating the "findings for a de facto parent with the findings necessary for custody, [] any error was harmless." (Op. 12) The Court noted that it was clear the trial court's determination that it was in SA-M's best interests to continue her relationship with Mr. Pinon was based on its findings of her "close bond" with him, and "his shown parenting abilities." (Op. 12; See FF 10, CP 852) As for Mr. Alvarez's "primary challenge on appeal" to custody, Division Three held that upon establishing Mr. Pinon as a de facto parent, the trial court's decision to designate him as primary residential parent was well within its discretion and supported by substantial evidence. (Op. 13-14)

In particular, the Court held there was evidence "that Mr. Alvarez was physically and emotionally abusive and that he employed an abusive use of conflict in a way that damaged SA-M's development....Mr. Alvarez had a history of abandoning both of his children. Prior to the death of Ms. Morales, Mr. Alvarez had visited his daughter SA-M one time in four years. Testimony at trial indicated that he was making no attempt to be involved in his youngest daughter's life." (Op. 16)

Finally, the Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Alvarez's argument that designating Mr. Pinon as primary residential parent "interferes

with his fundamental rights as a natural parent" because "[o]nce the court properly declared Mr. Pinon to be a de facto parent, he stood in parity with Mr. Alvarez for purposes of residential time and decision-making." (Op. 14)

D. Grounds for Denying Review.

1. Neither party challenges the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the de facto parentage statute, and it does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) simply because its decision "involved the newly enacted de facto parentage statute." (Petition 8) Neither petitioner nor respondent challenges the Court's decision that the de facto parentage statute requires that a trial court first determine whether the individual seeking residential time has proven to be a de facto parent by establishing, among six other factors, that "continuing the relationship between the individual and the child is in the best interest of the child" under RCW 26.26A.440 before it determines what residential schedule is in the best interests of the child under RCW 26.09.187. (Op. 10-11)

Petitioner's challenge to the Court of Appeals' decision is not that it was wrong in holding that under RCW 26.26A.440 there is "separate best interest considerations" for establishment of de facto parentage and a residential schedule. Instead, petitioner complains that the Court did not agree with him that the trial court's finding that it was in SA-M's "best interest that [Mr. Pinon] be her primary parent because of his shown parenting abilities and the close bond [SA-M] has with him and because [Mr. Alvarez] is not a fit parent" was insufficient to support a determination that it was in SA-M's best interest for her relationship with Mr. Pinon to continue, as required under RCW 26.26A.440. (Petition 11)

Affirmance of this fact-specific determination is not grounds for further review. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court "found that it was in SA-M's best interest to continue her relationship with Mr. Pinon. . . . [T]his finding is supported by evidence that SA-M and Mr. Pinon had a strong bond and Mr. Pinon had demonstrated parenting abilities. The additional finding—that it is in SA-M's best interest for Mr. Pinon to be her primary parent—implicitly recognizes that their relationship should continue." (Op. 12) There are no grounds under RAP 13.4(b) to warrant review of this decision.

"The criteria for determining the best interests of the child are varied and highly dependent on the facts and circumstances of the case at hand." *Matter of J.D.W.*, 14 Wn. App.2d 388, 411, ¶ 31, 471 P.3d 228 (2020) (quoting *McDaniels v. Carlson*, 108 Wn.2d 299, 312, 738 P.2d 254 (1987)). The Court of Appeals' decision holding that the trial court's findings in this individual case, based on its particular facts, supports its determination that it was in the child's best interests to continue a relationship with respondent does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. That a de facto parent stands in parity with a child's natural parent has long been the law, and does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals' decision holding that the trial court's decision awarding residential time to respondent, who has been adjudicated as SA-M's de facto parent, did not interfere with petitioner's fundamental rights as a natural parent also does not raise an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). (Pet. 12-13) This principle has long been well-established by this Court, in *Parentage of L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d 679, 710, ¶ 45, 122 P.3d 161 (2005), cert. denied, 547 U.S. 1143 (2006); Custody of A.F.J., 179 Wn.2d 179,

190, ¶ 17, 314 P.3d 373 (2013); *Custody of B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d 224, 241, ¶ 33, 315 P.3d 470 (2013), even before it was codified in the de facto parentage statute.

When an individual's status as de facto parent has been established, that individual is placed "in parity with biological and adoptive parents in our state." L.B., 155 Wn.2d at 710, ¶ 45. Thus, in affirming the trial court's decision, the Court of Appeals properly held that "the rights and responsibilities that attach to de facto parents 'do not infringe on the fundamental liberty interests of the other legal parent in the family unit." (Op. 15, citing L.B., 155 Wn.2d at 712) Review of that decision is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Petitioner does not purport to seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision under RAP 13.4(b)(3) based on any claim that the decision raises a "significant question of law under the Constitution." But even if he had, review would not be warranted. "Naked castings into the constitutional seas are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 of King Cnty.* v. Univ. of Wash., 182 Wn. App. 34, 49, ¶ 43, 327 P.3d 1281 (quoted source omitted), rev. denied, 181 Wn.2d 1019 (2014).

3. The Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's finding that petitioner is unfit and establishing the residential schedule as supported by substantial evidence does not conflict with any of this Court's decisions.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's residential schedule because "substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that Mr. Alvarez is an unfit parent and should have limitations on his residential time." (Op. 16) Review of the Court's decision is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because it does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Ridgeview Properties v*. *Starbuck*, 96 Wn.2d 716, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982) (Petition 13-14).

Ridgeview Properties stands for the unremarkable proposition that appellate review "is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions of law and judgment." 96 Wn.2d at 719. The Court of Appeals' decision is wholly consistent with that standard: after setting out the substantial evidence on which the trial court relied in making its findings, the Court affirmed because "there is substantial evidence to support the trial court's findings and conclusions that Mr. Pinon is SA-M's de facto parent, that primary residential time should be granted to Mr. Pinon, with limitations placed on Mr. Alvarez's residential time."

(Op. 16-18) The Court's decision does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

E. Conclusion.

This Court should deny review.